**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

**No. 21-0774**

**MONROE COUNTY NO. EQEQ009517**

---

**QUALITY PLUS FEEDS, INC., Plaintiff-Appellee,**

**vs.**

**COMPEER FINANCIAL, FLCA, Defendant-Appellant,**

**and**

**ETCHER FAMILY FARMS, LLC, ETCHER FARMS, INC.,  
AGRILAND FS, INC., DEWITT VETERINARY SERVICES, P.C. d/b/a  
DEWITT VETERINARY CLINIC, JASON DENNING, PRECISION  
PUMPING, INC. and ELMWOOD FARMS, LLC, Defendants.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR MONROE COUNTY, HON. DANIEL P. WILSON**

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

Dustan J. Cross AT0001856  
Rick J. Halbur AT0014046  
GISLASON & HUNTER LLP  
2700 South Broadway  
P.O. Box 458  
New Ulm, MN 56073

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. Nature of the Case.**

This action arose from a lender–borrower relationship that previously existed between Appellant Compeer Financial, FLCA f/k/a AgStar Financial Services, FLCA (“**Compeer**”) and Etcher Farms, Inc. (“**EFI**”), Etcher Family Farms, LLC (“**EFF**”), and Elmwood Farms, LLC (“**Elmwood**”) (collectively the “**Etcher Entities**”). The Etcher Entities each operated various dairy farms, and Compeer financed those operations at all times relevant to this appeal. Appellee Quality Plus Feeds, Inc.’s (“**Quality**”) involvement in this

case stems from its delivery of feed supply to EFI and EFF – but not Elmwood – at various times pertinent to this appeal.

Specifically, from approximately late 2014 through early 2019, Compeer financed the Etcher Entities’ farming operations. (App. 686-687, ¶ 5). The Etcher Entities’ loans with Compeer were secured by both real estate and personal property collateral. Relevant to this appeal, Compeer perfected its security interests in the Etcher Entities’ personal property between late 2014 and the first quarter of 2016. (App. 118, ¶ 5). Quality subsequently sold and delivered feed to EFI and EFF in late 2017 and early 2018.

The crux of this appeal involves a dispute between Compeer and Quality regarding these parties’ respective priority to certain liquidated collateral previously owned by the Etcher Entities. Compeer claims priority to this collateral as the Etcher Entities’ senior, secured lender, and Quality asserts priority as the claimed holder of a “superpriority” agricultural supply dealer’s lien arising from the sale of certain feed to EFI and EFF.

On March 19, 2018, the Etcher Entities filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Iowa. (App. 119, ¶ 8). The Etcher Entities, Compeer, and Quality initially attempted to resolve their disputes throughout the course of these bankruptcy proceedings, but the bankruptcy court eventually dismissed those proceedings

on or around January 10, 2019. (*Id.*, ¶ 11). The lawsuit underlying this appeal followed the dismissal of the bankruptcy proceedings.

### **B. Relevant Events of the Prior Proceedings.**

On March 13, 2020, Quality commenced this action by filing a petition for the foreclosure of its claimed agricultural supply dealer lien(s) (hereinafter “**liens**” or “**lien**”). (App. 10-106, *generally*). Quality’s petition sought to foreclose its claimed lien in \$317,308.51 of the Etcher Entities’ “**Milk Check Proceeds**” and \$1,027,904.09 of Cattle Sale Proceeds.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*). The Milk Check Proceeds and Cattle Sale Proceeds constituted Compeer’s collateral for the Etcher Entities’ loans, and accordingly Compeer filed a counterclaim seeking to foreclose upon its prior, perfected blanket security interest in personal property owned by the Etcher Entities. (App. 107-156, *generally*). Compeer also raised two additional counterclaims against Quality for unjust enrichment and conversion. (*Id.*).

On November 24, 2020, Quality filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and several other pleadings in support of that motion. (App. 286-624).

---

<sup>1</sup> The “**Cattle Sale Proceeds**” are proceeds from the March and April 2019 sales of EFI’s and EFF’s cattle. (App. 687, ¶ 6).

On December 9, 2020, Compeer filed its Resistance to Quality's Motion for Summary Judgment and several other pleadings in support of its Resistance. (App. 625-820).

On December 18, 2020, Compeer filed its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and several other pleadings in support of its cross-motion. (App. 823-848).

On December 21, 2020, Quality filed a Reply in support of its motion. (App. 849-867). On January 5, 2021, Quality filed its Resistance to Compeer's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and several other pleadings in support of its Resistance. (App. 868-909). On January 12, 2021, Compeer filed a Reply in support of its cross-motion. (App. 910-922).

On February 5, 2021, the District Court held a hearing and took the two summary judgment motions under advisement. (App. 923-924). On April 20, 2021, the District Court issued its Ruling granting Quality's motion and denying Compeer's cross-motion. (App. 925-944). The District Court directed Quality to submit a proposed judgment or decree and provided Compeer with an opportunity to object to Quality's proposed final judgment or decree. (App. 942, ¶ 44).

On April 30, 2021, Quality filed a Proposed Order and Judgment Entry and a Motion to Tax Expert Witness Fees as Costs. (App. 945-951). Compeer

thereafter filed Resistances to both Quality’s proposed order and motion to tax costs. (App. 952-962). Quality subsequently filed a Reply in support of its Proposed Order and Judgment Entry and an amended proposed order. (App. 963-974).

On May 20, 2021, the District Court entered its final Order, Judgment and Decree (“**Judgment & Decree**”) and issued its Ruling on Quality’s Motion to Tax Costs. (App. 975-979). On June 2, 2021, Compeer filed its Notice of Appeal. (App. 982-984).

### **C. Disposition of the Case in District Court.**

In its April 20, 2021 Ruling, the District Court opened its analysis with an acknowledgment that it had to first decide the “tracing” dispute between the parties, as this dispute was the salient issue in the competing motions. Thus, the District Court first analyzed whether the relevant statutory language in Iowa Code § 570A.1, *et seq.* “requires [that] an agricultural supply dealer link their feed with the livestock that consumes it in order for the lien to attach. In other words, must the dealer ‘trace’ a path from the feed to the livestock.” (App. 932, ¶ 18). The District Court concluded that the “legislature did not include a specific tracing requirement” in Iowa Code § 570A.3. (*Id.*). Rather, the District Court found that “a party asserting a lien must show a *reasonable link* between the feed provided by the supplier and the livestock . . . [and that]

section 570A.3 does *not* require a meticulous showing of the path from feed to a *specific* cow[.]” (App. 933, ¶ 19 (emphasis added)).

The District Court’s conclusion on the “tracing” issue had a “domino effect” upon all of the other issues raised in the competing motions. Specifically, upon adjudicating the “reasonable link” “tracing” standard required to prove up an agricultural supply dealer’s lien under Iowa Code § 570A.3, the Court concluded that Quality had satisfied this standard such that summary judgment was proper on Quality’s motion and that Compeer’s cross-motion should be denied.<sup>2</sup> (App. 933-934, ¶¶ 19-21; App. 938-939, ¶¶ 31-33).

In denying Compeer’s cross-motion, the District Court explicitly rejected Compeer’s interpretation of the “tracing” requirements under Iowa Code § 570A.3 and the relevant case law. (App. 938-939, ¶¶ 32-33). The District Court also denied Compeer’s cross-motion based on its prior determination that Quality had a “superpriority” lien in the Milk Check Proceeds paramount to Compeer’s prior, perfected security interest in those proceeds. (App. 938, ¶ 31).

---

<sup>2</sup> The District Court further adjudicated that all of Compeer’s affirmative defenses were unavailing. (App. 934-936, ¶¶ 22-26). The District Court also dismissed Compeer’s unjust enrichment and conversion counterclaims on the grounds that Quality was entitled to the Milk Check Proceeds underlying those counterclaims. (App. 936-937, ¶¶ 27-29; App. 939, ¶ 34).

The District Court also denied Compeer’s request that \$113,553.31 of the Milk Check Proceeds generated from the sale of Elmwood’s milk be turned over to Compeer. (App. 939-940, ¶ 35). Compeer argued that Quality was not entitled to this portion of the Milk Check Proceeds because Quality had never sold any feed to Elmwood and had never filed any UCC financing statements to perfect its lien as to this collateral; as a result, Quality could not claim a lien in Elmwood’s milk check proceeds. (App. 845-846).

The District Court nevertheless found that Quality was entitled to this \$113,553.31 of the Milk Check Proceeds generated from the sale of Elmwood’s milk because “*some* of the Etcher cows [that consumed Quality’s feed] *may* have been transported to Elmwood Farms. . . [and] Elmwood Farms played a role in the Etcher Farms dairy operation . . . [but the] exact role [was] unknown to the Court.” (App. 939-940, ¶ 35). In sum, the District Court granted all of the relief sought by Quality in its motion and denied all of the relief requested in Compeer’s cross-motion.

On May 20, 2021, after a series of filings in connection with Quality’s Proposed Order and Judgment Entry, the District Court entered its Judgment & Decree consistent with the District Court’s prior determination that Quality’s motion should be granted, and Compeer’s cross-motion should be denied. (App. 975-977).



## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **I. Background Information.**

Quality is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Iowa, and it is in the business of supplying feed to farmers. (App. 158, ¶ 3; App. 255-256, ¶¶ 2, 5, 8). Compeer is an instrumentality under the laws of the United States pursuant to the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended, and it is in the business of financing agricultural operations. (App. 686, ¶ 4).

The Etcher Entities each owned and operated various dairy farms for several decades until early 2019 when all of their farming operations ceased. At all times pertinent to this appeal, Compeer financed the Etcher Entities' dairy operations and Quality sold feed to these operations on credit.

Specifically, from approximately late 2014 through early 2019, Compeer financed the Etcher Entities' farming operations. (App. 686-687, ¶ 5). In connection with providing this financing, Compeer obtained and perfected several security interests in the Etcher Entities' personal property ("**Personal Property**"), including without limitation the cattle and milk (and proceeds from the sales of the same) that are at issue in this case. (App. 687, ¶ 6).

From approximately late 2017 through early 2018, Quality sold feed to EFI and EFF – but not Elmwood – on credit. (App. 256, ¶¶ 5, 8). Quality claims to have provided feed on credit to EFI from July 28, 2017 through March 30, 2018, and to EFF from September 25, 2017 through March 29, 2018. (*Id.*).

As outlined in detail below, there is no question that Compeer obtained and perfected its security interests in the Personal Property more than two and a half years *before* the purported creation of Quality’s asserted liens. This conclusion follows because all of the security agreements that created Compeer’s security interests in the Personal Property were entered into on various dates between December 11, 2014 and March 4, 2016. (App. 687, ¶ 8). Further, Compeer perfected its security interests in the Personal Property by filing various UCC financing statements and amendments to the same with the Iowa Secretary of State, with Compeer’s initial UCC financing statement being filed on December 18, 2014. (App. 687-688, ¶¶ 9-10, 12 (citing UCC financing statements and amendments)).

Accordingly, Compeer’s security interests in the Personal Property were perfected on December 18, 2014, which was more than two and a half years *before* Quality even *attempted* to perfect its purported liens in a portion of the Personal Property. (App. 688, ¶¶ 10, 12). The dates of perfection are

undisputed because Quality filed its first UCC financing statement on October 5, 2017 and its last UCC financing statement was filed on March 28, 2018. (App. 342, 348-349, 367).

Quality's October 5, 2017 filing of its first UCC financing statement was no coincidence. Admittedly, the Etcher Entities had struggled to make a profit from at least late 2014 onward, but by the Fall of 2017 they were in dire financial straits. This prompted Compeer to send a notice of acceleration and demand for payment of \$16,697,969.57 of indebtedness on October 25, 2017. (App. 516-517).

At around this same time, the Etcher Entities needed to purchase feed on credit because they could not pay for their feed at the time of delivery. This is where Quality entered the picture in this case. As mentioned above, from approximately late 2017 through early 2018, Quality sold feed to EFI and EFF – but not Elmwood – on credit. (App. 256, ¶¶ 5, 8).

By early 2018, the Etcher Entities had not turned around their failing dairy operations. Seeking to reorganize their debts, the Etcher Entities each individually filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Iowa on March 19, 2018. (App. 688, ¶ 13). Eventually, the Etcher Entities' individual bankruptcy cases were

consolidated into one bankruptcy proceeding in that Court, Case No. 18-00554-lmj11 (“**Consolidated Bankruptcy Case**”). (*Id.*, ¶ 14).

The Etcher Entities were unable to successfully reorganize their debts in their Consolidated Bankruptcy Case. On December 5, 2018, Compeer filed a motion to dismiss the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case. (App. 689, ¶ 15). The Consolidated Bankruptcy Case was dismissed on or around January 10, 2019. (*Id.*, ¶ 16).

Following the dismissal of the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case, Compeer, Quality, and the Etcher Entities began to experience difficulties while the Etcher Entities were seeking to liquidate their assets to satisfy their financial obligations to Compeer. These difficulties arose from disputes between these parties regarding (a) where various Milk Check Proceeds should be deposited, and (b) Quality’s failure to “trace” it’s asserted liens and the alleged “superpriority” of the same above Compeer’s prior, perfected security interests in the Etcher Entities’ Personal Property.

## **II. The Milk Checks.**

Following the dismissal of the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case, the Etcher Entities, Compeer, and Quality were all named as payees on various milk checks issued by Dairy Farmers of America (“**DFA**”) from the sales of milk from the Etcher Entities’ milk cows. (*Id.*, ¶ 20).

Quality demanded that its name be placed on DFA milk checks for milk sold by the Etcher Entities – even though Quality never sold feed to Elmwood – because Quality’s attorney acknowledged that the three Etcher Entities had intermingled their respective dairy herds at all times relevant to the dispute between the Etcher Entities, Compeer, and Quality regarding the respective lien priorities in Etcher Entities’ cattle and milk. (App. 690, ¶ 21 (citing App. 740-743)).

Put another way, Quality’s attorney claimed an entitlement to Elmwood’s milk produced in the first quarter of 2019 because it was *hypothetically* conceivable to her that this entity’s cattle producing milk in 2019 *could have* consumed cattle feed that Quality sold to EFI and EFF between September 4, 2017 through March 19, 2018 (i.e., the time period during which Quality claims to have perfected various agricultural supply dealer liens).<sup>3</sup> (App. 690, ¶ 22).

After the Etcher Entities, Compeer, and Quality were all named as payees on various milk checks issued by DFA in connection with the sale of milk from the Etcher Entities’ milk cows during the first quarter of 2019, Quality subsequently turned over hundreds of thousands of dollars’ worth of milk check proceeds to Compeer following the dismissal of the Consolidated

---

<sup>3</sup> See footnote 5 below regarding how this “lien period” is calculated.

Bankruptcy Case. (*Id.*, ¶ 23). Then, around approximately mid-April 2019, Quality unilaterally and without authorization decided to retain the last remaining \$317,308.51 of Milk Check Proceeds. (*Id.*).

On several occasions in and after May 2019, Compeer demanded that Quality turn over the Milk Check Proceeds to Compeer, but Quality refused to do so. (*Id.*, ¶ 24). Of the \$317,308.51 in Milk Check Proceeds that Quality is wrongfully withholding from Compeer, \$113,553.31 of such proceeds came from the sale(s) of Elmwood's milk in the first quarter of 2019. (*Id.*). That is problematic because, as stated previously, Quality never sold or otherwise provided any feed to Elmwood for which Quality can claim an agricultural supply dealer's lien. (App. 691, ¶ 24).

Upon information and belief, Quality is simply holding \$113,553.31 of the Milk Check Proceeds that came from the sale(s) of Elmwood's milk because Quality knows that the Etcher Entities intermingled their three respective dairy herds at all times pertinent to this lawsuit. (*Id.*, ¶ 25). Quality has not and apparently cannot "trace" EFI's and EFF's *specific* cattle that consumed Quality's feed sold between September 4, 2017 through March 19, 2018 to the Milk Check Proceeds. (*Id.*).

### III. The Cattle Sales.

Quality’s failure to “trace” any of its supposedly lienable feed to EFI’s and EFF’s cattle liquidated in March and April 2019 was the other significant dispute that arose following the dismissal of the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case. This problem arose because Quality had taken no efforts before, during, or after the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case to ensure that its asserted liens would remain “traceable” to the specific livestock proceeds that Quality now seeks to enforce its asserted liens against.

The admittedly limited record before the District Court regarding what livestock may have consumed Quality’s feed sold from September 4, 2017 through March 19, 2018 can be summarized as follows:

As a threshold matter, on June 30, 2017 – approximately two months before Quality claims to have perfected its first lien – the Etcher Entities each reported the following information about their respective dairy herds:

<b>Cattle inventories per entity as of 6/30/17</b>	<b>Cow #</b>	<b>Young stock#</b>
Etcher Farms Inc.	748	2,606
Etcher Family Farms, LLC	1,222	0
Elmwood Farms LLC	1,256	0
<b>Total Cattle</b>		<b>5,832</b>

(App. 671, ¶ 6 (citing App. 677, 679, 681)).

Then, as of March 19, 2018, the Etcher Entities collectively claimed to own a total of **5,492** cattle. (App. 688, ¶ 13 (citing App. 704; App. 528, App. 575)).

On March 31, 2018 – approximately two weeks after the Etcher Entities each filed for bankruptcy – they each reported the following information about their respective dairy herds:

<b>Cattle inventories per entity as of 3/31/18</b>	<b>Cow #</b>	<b>Young stock #</b>
Etcher Farms Inc.	868	2471
Etcher Family Farms, LLC	1211	0
Elmwood Farms LLC	1101	0
<b>Total Cattle</b>		<b>5,651</b>

(App. 671, ¶ 7 (citing App. 676, 678, 680)).

Then, on December 1, 2018 – approximately one month before the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case was dismissed – the Etcher Entities each reported the following information about their respective dairy herds:

<b>Cattle inventories per entity as of 12/1/18</b>	<b>Cow #</b>	<b>Young stock#</b>
Etcher Farms Inc.	577	982
Etcher Family Farms, LLC	1,282	
Elmwood Farms LLC	1,209	
<b>Total head</b>		<b>4,050</b>

(App. 672, ¶ 8 (citing App. 683, 684, 685)).



In sum, on March 31, 2018 – approximately two weeks after the commencement of the bankruptcy proceedings – the Etcher Entities owned 5,651 cattle, but their dairy herd numbers were down to 4,050 cattle (i.e., a loss of more than 1,600 cattle) by December 1, 2018. (App. 671-672, ¶¶ 7-8).

The dramatic reduction of over 1,600 dairy cattle is at least somewhat attributable to the cattle death losses, cattle purchases, cull sales, and inter-company transfers of cattle that took place between March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2018, which are summarized below as follows:

	<b>EFF</b>	<b>EFI</b>	<b>Elmwood</b>
Culled Cows	(134)	(113)	(224)
Dead Cows	(93)	(59)	(54)
Young Stock Died		(276)	
Heifers Sold		(55)	
Animals Sold/Transferred to EFF		(116)	
Animals Sold/Transferred to Elmwood		(184)	
Heifers Traded for Milk Cows		(545)	
Adjustments for Inventory Differences		(259)	(54)
Bring on (Calves Born)		341	
Heifers Transferred to Milking Herd		286	
Transferred	41		355
Purchased cows	117		
Cows From Traded Heifers	18		

(App. 672, ¶ 9).

The above-summarized numbers only cover the time period of March 31, 2018 through September 30, 2018 and not the entire duration of the

Consolidated Bankruptcy Case because the Etcher Entities failed to provide significant information about their cattle death losses, cattle purchases, cull sales, and inter-company transfers of cattle from October 1, 2018 through approximately April 2019 when the last of the Etcher Entities' respective dairy herds were liquidated. (App. 672-673, ¶ 10).

While the record is limited as to the Etcher Entities' cattle death losses, cattle purchases, cull sales, and inter-company transfers of cattle that occurred during the course of the Consolidated Bankruptcy Case, a number of items stand out. For example, over 1,600 of the Etcher Entities' dairy cattle were liquidated by sale or death loss between March 31, 2018 and September 30, 2018. (App. 673, ¶ 11). In addition, during this time period at least 845 cattle owned by the three Etcher Entities were being traded amongst themselves or sold to third parties. (*Id.*). EFI also made "adjustments" in its herd inventory for 259 cattle that it simply could not account for. (*Id.*). Finally, EFF purchased at least 117 cows and transferred another 41 cows (but nobody knows where). (*Id.*).

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