IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
No. 21-0774
Monroe County Case No. EQEQ009517

QUALITY PLUS FEEDS, INC., Plaintiff–Appellee,
v.

COMPEER FINANCIAL, FLCA, Defendant–Appellant,

ETCHER FAMILY FARMS, LLC; ETCHER FARMS, INC.;
AGRILAND FS, INC.; DEWITT VETERINARY SERVICES, P.C.
d/b/a DEWITT VETERINARY CLINIC; JASON DENNING;
PRECISION PUMPING, INC.; and ELMWOOD FARMS, LLC,
Defendants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
MONROE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JUDGE DANIEL P. WILSON,
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

APPELLEE’S FINAL BRIEF

Alexander M. Johnson, AT0004024
Thomas D. Story, AT0013130
Jennifer E. Lindberg, AT0013329
BROWN, WINICK, GRAVES, GROSS, AND BASKERVILLE, P.L.C.
666 Grand Avenue, Suite 2000

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED QPF'S PERFECTED AGRICULTURAL SUPPLY DEALER'S LIENS HAD PRIORITY.

Error Preservation

QPF generally agrees that Compeer has preserved error on the arguments made in reference to tracing, acquisition prices, adequate protection payments, the bankruptcy stay, and the calculation of QPF's lien, but notes one exception: Compeer failed to raise and secure an order upon its claim that QPF's lien must be reduced by a further \$27,304.07 based upon the perfection period (this argument appearing now in section I.E.b of Compeer's brief). *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal."). Accordingly, this portion of Compeer's argument on appeal was waived.

Compeer even admits that it did not obtain an order on this point: "[N]either the District Court's Ruling nor its subsequent Judgment & Decree addressed Compeer's arguments regarding this \$27,304.07 in 'unperfected'—and therefore 'non-superpriority' lien charges" (Appellant's Brief p. 53). As for raising it, Compeer claims to have

addressed it during the summary judgment hearing (but not, it must concede, in its extensive briefing), but it is clear from the cited lines that it did not. Compeer’s counsel discussed only the lien period generally, before directing the District Court to the potential for a partial payment applied to previous, allegedly unperfected amounts. (App. 1015, Tr. 31:7–17). This is not the same argument Compeer makes now, nor, even if it were construed to be, was it raised with sufficient specificity. Thus, its absence from the District Court’s Ruling is unsurprising.

Instead, this “error” was first raised in resistance to QPF’s proposed judgment entry, (App. 956, ¶ 13), which by then was far too late to make such a claim. Regardless, as, again, Compeer concedes, the District Court did not address it at all. It was then on Compeer to move for reconsideration or enlargement—which it failed to do. *See Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537 (“When a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.”). Thus, even assuming Compeer’s belated argument was properly raised, this Court will “routinely hold that when an issue is raised in a motion but not decided in the district court ruling, the issue is not preserved for review.” *33 Carpenters Const., Inc. v. State Farm Life and Cas. Co.*, 939 N.W.2d 69, 75–76 (Iowa 2020) (citing *UE Local*

893/IUP v. State, 928 N.W.2d 51, 61 (Iowa 2019); *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Schulte*, 843 N.W.2d 876, 884 (Iowa 2014); *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 540–41). This Court should not deem error preserved on this issue and decline to address Compeer’s claim the judgment amount be reduced by an additional \$27,304.07 for lack of timely perfection.

Standard of Review

QPF agrees the standard of review on rulings for summary judgment is correction of errors at law, *see Hollingshead v. DC Misfits, LLC*, 937 N.W.2d 616, 618 (Iowa 2020) (“The standard of review for summary judgment is correction of errors of law.”), as is this Court’s standard of review on statutory interpretation, *see Commerce Bank v. McGowen*, 956 N.W.2d 128, 132–33 (Iowa 2021) (“This case presents a question of statutory interpretation, and our review of the district court’s decision is for the correction of errors at law.”). *See also Homan v. Branstad*, 887 N.W.2d 153, 164 (Iowa 2016) (“When resolving an appeal from a district court ruling on a summary judgment motion requires us to resolve a legal question involving statutory interpretation, we review the district court ruling on the statutory interpretation question for correction of errors at law.”).

Merits

Like in its attack on summary judgment, Compeer fires off a barrage of arguments that, while incapable of striking at the heart of QPF's claim, seek to create a distraction of such significance this Court simply concedes. As it was before the District Court, it will not work. When the smoke clears, QPF is still standing with a secured claim so small compared to the available proceeds that Compeer's efforts to pick out 117 cows here, another feed supplier there, make no dent at all in the protection available. But what Compeer really wants is for the agricultural supply dealer lien process to be so laborious, so intensive, so pointlessly elaborate, that no dealer ever asserts a claim again. On a fundamental level this is not what the legislature intended, nor is it what practice requires. QPF respectfully requests this Court affirm the District Court's grant of QPF's Motion for Summary Judgment in all respects and reject Compeer's efforts once and for all.

A. Perfected agricultural supply dealer's liens have "superpriority."

The initial problem with Compeer's argument is it starts from a faulty premise. Compeer believes we should start from the proposition that it, the bank, is the first-filed superior, and the claims of all others must be viewed with suspicion. Not so. We must start from QPF's *superpriority*. Framing the

analysis in this way better supports the statutory structure designed by the legislature.

To begin, QPF is an “agricultural supply dealer” who sold “feed” as an “agricultural supply” to the Etcher Farms, which are each a “farmer.” (App. 290-291, ¶¶ 1–6). Accordingly, it is beyond dispute that QPF is entitled to a lien, as Iowa Code section 570A.3 expressly states: “An agricultural supply dealer who provides an agricultural supply to a farmer *shall have an agricultural lien* as provided in section 554.9102.” (Emphasis added). Moreover, this lien is no mere tangential interest; it is a lien with “superpriority,” which is both “priority over a lien or security interest that applies subsequent to the time that the agricultural supply dealer lien is perfected” *and* “priority over an earlier perfected lien or security interest.”¹¹ Iowa Code § 570A.5(1), (3). In other words, priority over everyone, including banks like Compeer.

The analysis then, must focus on this lien’s amount, which is “the amount owed to [QPF] for the retail cost of the agricultural supply,” and the

¹¹ This superpriority extends to “the difference between the acquisition price of the livestock and the fair market value of the livestock at the time the lien attaches or the sale price of the livestock, whichever is greater,” Iowa Code § 570A.5(3), which is a concept discussed elsewhere in this brief. The remainder of the lien does not have inferior priority, but instead, “equal priority” to all prior perfected interests. *See* Iowa Code § 570A.5(2).

property to which it attached, which is all “[l]ivestock consuming the feed.”¹² Iowa Code § 570A.3(2). It is this latter point on which Compeer spends the majority of its words, and thus the first addressed in this brief.

B. The undisputed facts established QPF’s rights in the Proceeds.

Once attached, an agricultural supply dealer’s lien continues in the proceeds. Iowa Code § 570A.3; *id.* §§ 554.9203(6), .9315(1)(a)–(b); *see also Schley I*, 509 B.R. at 912–13 (“Giving an agricultural supply dealer a lien that can only be enforced against the collateral . . . but not the proceeds of that collateral could lead in many circumstances . . . to provide little protection for the agricultural supplier. Such a reading . . . [would be] contrary to the purposes of the statute . . .”). To be fair to Compeer, that a security interest attaches to only “identifiable proceeds of collateral” is not a controversial statement, nor is it controversial that proceeds commingled with other property are identifiable “to the extent that the secured party

¹² With limited exception, there is no dispute on QPF’s perfection, as the undisputed facts establish the filing of financing statements covering all feed sold in the preceding 31 days. Iowa Code §§ 570A.4(2), .5(1)–(3). (App. 292, ¶¶ 13–14). While Compeer had previously argued that QPF’s financing statements were misleading, it has abandoned this argument on appeal. *See Baker v. City of Iowa City*, 750 N.W.2d 93, 102–03 (Iowa 2008) (holding a party fails to preserve error when that party fails to advance any argument or cite any authority in his or her brief to support a claim); *Lindaman v. Bode*, 478 N.W.2d 312, 317 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991) (“We consider arguments not raised on appeal to be waived.”); *see also* Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3).

identifies the proceeds by a method of tracing, including application of equitable principles, that is permitted under law . . . with respect to commingled property of the type involved.” Iowa Code § 554.9315(1)(b), (2)(b). What is controversial, however, is the method of tracing Compeer asks this Court to require, which is something akin to finding a needle in a haystack and then tracking down that specific needle’s manufacturer, purchase price, purchase date, useful life expectancy, and elemental composition, all documented in contemporaneously recorded writings by experts.

First, though, are threshold matters. All money obtained from the sale of the Etcher Farms’ milk and the cattle themselves are cash proceeds in which QPF’s lien continues. *See* Iowa Code § 570A.3(2); *id.* § 554.9102(1)(ah)(4), UCC cmt. 4(a) (defining farm products); *id.* § 554.9102(1)(bl)(1), (3) (defining proceeds); *In re Underbakke*, 60 B.R. 705, 708 (Bankr. N.D. Iowa 1986) (finding milk is a proceed of livestock, a farm product). Moreover, to the extent there were any exchanges, replacements, or other shifting around of cattle during the relevant time, if they were obtained by disposition of QPF-fed cattle, they too are proceeds. *See Citizens Sav. Bank v. Miller*, 515 N.W.2d 7, 9 (Iowa 1994). This shows just

how effective the UCC is at protecting the secured party's interests, and it also shows just how much it would take to impact QPF's lien.

In this case, there is at least \$1,345,212.60 in cash the parties agree is traceable to the Etcher Farms' cattle or their milk. (App. 293-294, ¶¶ 17–20, 23–24). The bulk of this from the sale of literally thousands of cows, the remainder of their milk. (App. 293-294, ¶¶ 17–20, 23–24). Surely, there are more proceeds, as Compeer helpfully points out might include items purchased from the earlier sale of cattle such as adequate protection payments, professional fees, or operating expenses, (App. 882-883, ¶ 25), but, given the ready availability of the Milk Check and Cattle Sale Proceeds and the amount of QPF's lien—a mere \$317,308.51—there is no need to explore these other potential proceeds.

In fact, for any of this to matter, at least \$1,027,904.09, or around 76 percent, of the combined Cattle Sale and Milk Check Proceeds have to be attributable to sources other than the underlying collateral. If only 25 percent of the available Proceeds are traceable to the collateral, then the entire exercise is pointless, as there would already be enough Proceeds to cover QPF's lien. This is the practical reality that Compeer has refused to acknowledge, arguing instead for the absolute and absurd requirement that not a dollar be given unless it can be “traced” to a specific—*specific*—cow,

and not only that, but accompanied by documentary, contemporaneously recorded “proof” that this specific cow ate QPF-supplied feed.

This Court might rightfully wonder what method exactly Compeer demands. QPF does as well. Compeer’s initial proposition, that cash be traceable to the Etcher cows and their milk, is one thing, but then it goes much, much further. At places in its briefing, Compeer has demanded affirmative proof of at least the following:

- The identity of each of the cows on the farm, presumably by number if such a number is available, or perhaps by name or physical description if not.
- Whether each such cow was born on the farm or purchased, and, if purchased, for how much.
- Whether each such cow consumed QPF feed, and, if so, for each time consuming feed, when and how much of such feed it consumed, the price of the feed consumed on that occasion, and whether it consumed feed from any other sources at any other time of its life (and, if it did consume anything else, when, what, and how much again, and then, incredibly, how much the cow grew because of this supplementary feed as compared to QPF feed, i.e., what “new value” was attributable to each).
- The location of each such cow at all points in time and including any times in which the cow changed location (a sort of cow chain-of-custody), and particularly when such cow was sold or exchanged, and then, if so, how the proceeds received in disposition were used.
- Whether such cow produced milk and, if so, how much milk each such cow produced, when such milk was produced, how much such milk was sold for each time milk was produced, and even how much of the milk was produced due to the supply of QPF feed, presumably on a scientific analysis of cellular respiration.

The above is non-exhaustive, as Compeer has never managed to articulate exactly what would be sufficient, declining in discovery and still, to this day, failing to set forth a clear answer.

So, to what facts does Compeer point that might make such a process appropriate here? None of substance. Compeer relies heavily on the representation that one of the Etcher Farms, during the bankruptcy, purchased 117 cows with some amount of scabbled together cash, maybe from the sale of other (QPF-fed) cows, maybe not. These 117 “replacement” cows, Compeer argues, could not possibly have consumed QPF feed,¹³ so, if cash from their sale is included in the Proceeds it must now be excluded. (App. 878-879, ¶ 16). Assuming these cows are not themselves proceeds, 117 cows, at an approximate median sale price of \$300,¹⁴ results in a \$35,100 deduction from the Proceeds. Or 2.6 percent of the total. This does

¹³ In fact, we know they did consume QPF feed, Compeer is just emphasizing that the QPF-supplied feed consumed by these cows would not be the same QPF-supplied feed on credit (unless a grain of on-credit feed was left in the bottom of the bin from an earlier delivery).

¹⁴ Sale prices per head in the 2019 sale of the Etcher Farms’ cattle ranged greatly, from as low as penny-a-pound to as high as \$831.39 a head. In the largest sale, that of 395 cattle from the Lovilia farm, the cattle were sold at \$256.36 a head. (App. 52-53).

not affect the outcome. And this is the *only* thing Compeer notes that might.¹⁵

This type of dispute over the minutiae is exactly what the District Court meant to avoid by granting summary judgment. (App. 942, ¶ 41 (“Continuing this lawsuit to litigate issues on the margins, would in the end, benefit no one.”)). In this case, where “virtually all” of the disputed proceeds came from the collateral, summary judgment was appropriate in QPF’s favor. *See Ellefson v. Centech Corp.*, 606 N.W.2d 324, 336–37 (Iowa 2000) (identifying proceeds in account and affirming summary judgment in secured lender’s favor as “virtually all of the cash” came from the collateral). Perhaps there is a case where some greater and specific proof might be required, where the available proceeds are not so much more than the claim. But it is emphatically not this case.

C. The statute imposes no elaborate and unworkable “tracing” requirement.

Practicalities aside, why does Compeer argue such a requirement exists, legally? This is a question of statutory interpretation, in which the Court is guided by several well-established principles. “The purpose of

¹⁵ Compeer raises the issue of cattle-death, noting the apparent loss of thousands in the time prior to liquidation of the herd. But if cattle in which QPF had a lien died, QPF simply no longer has that collateral. This does not affect QPF’s lien in the surviving cattle, which were sold for far more than QPF needs to satisfy its lien.

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